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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 10.26 AM  

 

MR RIZK: Commissioner, just before we commence, if I can announce my 

appearance. Rizk, R-i-z-k, initial A. I appear for Councillor Monaghan.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you. Authorisation is granted. Just before we start, 

I've been informed by those assisting us with the technology that there's a worldwide 

outage of something called Cloudflare, which should not affect us today but might 

affect the private stream in a way that means it might buffer from time to time. That 

is being closely monitored and it will be refreshed, but I'm conscious that there might 10 

be those in the room receiving instructions from people watching that feed.  

 

I'm confident that it will be monitored and rectified quickly, but if at any stage an 

issue arises where that occurs at a critical moment and instructions are required on 

something that is lost because of that, anyone should feel free to speak up and let me 15 

know, and that can be accommodated. I'd rather, if we can, keep it moving despite 

those issues, but if it poses anyone a difficulty please just let me know. Okay. Yes, 

Ms McDonald.  

 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, as flagged, I think, yesterday Mr Mallard is being 20 

recalled to provide some further evidence on some discrete issues.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Yes, Mr Mallard. Just come forward. You'll have to 

remind me, Mr Mallard. Did you take an oath or affirmation? Affirmation. Yes. 

Someone will help you with that.  25 

 

<SHAYNE MALLARD, AFFIRMED  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, Ms McDonald.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mallard, there's a couple of topics that I want to ask you 

some questions about. Can I just get you to restate your evidence about with your 

employment with Liverpool City Council. On the last occasion, you gave some 

evidence that you were first employed there, I think, during the council that sat from 

about 2012 to 2016.  35 

 

MR MALLARD: That's correct. I was employed there from 2012 to the end of 

2014.  

 

MS McDONALD: You then left the employment of the council. You were 40 

employed by the council subsequently in 2023?  

 

MR MALLARD: That's correct. After the - my term in Parliament ended, which 

was late March '23, a month or so after that I - I started on a contract at Liverpool 

Council.  45 
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MS McDONALD: And was it around May 2023 you started on the contract? April, 

May?  

 

MR MALLARD: That would be right.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: You were - and a temporary contract in the position of senior 

adviser, was it?  

 

MR MALLARD: That's correct.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: And then - again, my recollection it was either around end of 

August or maybe September of that year you successfully applied for the permanent 

position of a director?  

 

MR MALLARD: That's correct. Through a competitive process.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: And it was director of City Futures?  

 

MR MALLARD: That's correct.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Now, I want to ask you some questions about around August 

2023. General questions to begin with. Do you have an interest in horticulture or 

plants?  

 

MR MALLARD: Indeed I do. I've worked in horticulture on the side most part of 25 

my life, and had a nursery in the late nineties with my late brother.  

 

MS McDONALD: During August 2023, did you have a discussion with the mayor 

about the mayor building or constructing his new family home?  

 30 

MR MALLARD: Yes, I did. It wasn't uncommon for me to talk to a lot of people 

about garden issues. So I did have many conversations with the mayor, actually, but I 

did at that time. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And part of that conversation was that you could provide some 35 

advice on plants or horticulture?  

 

MR MALLARD: Standard practice.  

 

MS McDONALD: And after one of those conversations, was it determined that you 40 

and the mayor - and I put this a bit flippantly - would have an excursion to the 

construction site of the mayor's new home?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, I'd been there previously - I don't think I was employed at 

the council at the time when we - when he first bought the site, so I was familiar with 45 

it - the site on the waterfront. And, yes, so he - he invited me one day with a 
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time - lunch - in our lunch break, to go out and have a look at the construction site 

and follow up with some advice around plants on the roof and some screening plants.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: I might just ask, so we don't have to cut the live feed, that 

nobody identify the suburb or the address.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Of course.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: So I doubt that that's relevant - just to protect the mayor's 

privacy.  10 

 

COMMISSIONER: No, that's a very fair point. (Crosstalk). Mr Mallard, just bear 

that in mind.  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. Yes. 15 

 

COMMISSIONER: And, Ms Richardson, I'll listen carefully, but if we get - there's 

any slip-ups, let me know and we can dump the feed.  

 

MS McDONALD: So during a lunch break you and the mayor went out to the 20 

construction site?  

 

MR MALLARD: Mmm.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did you travel with the mayor?  25 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, in his car. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And when you got to the construction site, what stage was it at?  

 30 

MR MALLARD: I'm not a builder, but it wasn't lock-up stage yet. It was concrete 

formwork and scaffolding stage. A construction site, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And when you got to the site - you said it was at the construction 

formwork site - were you - were there any workers there?  35 

 

MR MALLARD: When we arrived there was someone about to leave. I can't recall 

whether it was a utility or - a van or something, but someone I identified as a - a 

person off-site, yes. Construction worker, yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: Were you introduced to this person?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. So we jumped out of the car, and the mayor was surprised he 

was there and he was surprised to see the mayor because it was an unplanned visit, 

and the mayor introduced me to this person briefly. It was only brief. I don't even 45 

remember his name, but he said words to the effect, from my memory, that this is 
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so-and-so from Future Form, and then I said hello to him and that, and I was 

introduced to him.  

 

And then as we were sort of passing each other, I - there may have been another 

conversation I wasn't party to - you know, like, when they're going to finish this or 5 

something like that - I wasn't part of that. The mayor, in front of him, "Can you 

believe the council's trying to shut this guy down? Employs 40 locals." And that's all. 

And after that, there wasn't - no further engagement with him or that issue from that 

casual encounter.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: And then was it a matter of you might have provided some 

advice about plants?  

 

MR MALLARD: Indeed. Bougainvillea on the roof and bamboo to screen the 

neighbour.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. And then after the advice was given, did you drive 

back with the mayor to the council?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. We got back in the car and drove back to council. And the 20 

way I can recall this particular incident, other than the fact that I was looking at his 

house and it was impressive, was that there was an incident in the car in regards to a 

meeting that the mayor joined - supposed to be part of a meeting, we did it in the car 

on the car phone, where there was a dispute and - so that's - I diarised that particular 

issue.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. The meeting that the mayor joined, do you remember 

the topic or the issue that they were discussing?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. It was set up by Mr Breton, who was at that point director of 30 

City - of - goodness me - Operations - I can't remember what it was called now. And 

it was to delve into the - and it would be at the mayor's behest. He was - and almost 

every councillor in New South Wales has this issue, so it's not unique to the 

mayor - which was the concern around developer contributions being accumulated 

by council and not being expended as expected by the communities, as expected by 35 

developers, and trying to unlock - what I call a scrambled egg - unlock that red tape 

that locks money into - council being unable to expend it. So that meeting was set up 

to try and tease open that issue. The issue that arose was that a -  

 

MS McDONALD: Could I just stop you there. Is that issue also sometimes referred 40 

to as the 7.11 contributions?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, it's - I refer to it as contribution schemes because they've 

changed numbers over the years, but yes, contribution schemes. So developers build 

a block of flats under an adopted contribution scheme plan for that area - I think 45 

there's nine, from memory, for Liverpool, which has - which is legislated, which has 

to be consulted with the community, which is then approved by the department.  
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They contribute an amount of money into an account, which is locked up - the 

council has - and it can only be expended in the areas that are defined in that 

contributions plan. The contributions - the issue is contributions plans get out of date 

quite quickly. Communities grow fast and have new expectations, and so there's a 5 

whole issue of trying to update it. Yes. So you have to ask Farooq Portelli, but from 

memory $200 million is locked up that way at Liverpool, and there's a lot about 

it - concern around the fact that it's not being expended in the community.  

 

COMMISSIONER: These are contributions - I think I've heard some evidence 10 

about this - that are intended to be applied to infrastructure, parks, roads, that sort of 

thing in - within those - I think you said nine zones.  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. That's right. And the earlier contributions plans, when I was 

a councillor, allowed council to collect money for swimming pools and libraries, 15 

childcare centres, things like that. That was amended and changed in more 

modern - contributions plans are restricted to infrastructure - as you suggested, 

Commissioner - drainage, roads, open space. Yes. And the reason it's difficult to 

unlock is because often there's not enough collected for the project that's required. 

Sometimes it's only - under the plan, maybe 50 per cent can be contribute to that, so 20 

the council has to find the other 50 per cent to match it to do the project. So it's often 

hard to unlock the money.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Do you know if that's subject to review by government?  

 25 

MR MALLARD: Yes. So when I left the council, the Department of Planning was 

conducting a review of contributions plans. All the councils are constantly trying to 

review them, but Liverpool City Council was - set up a taskforce subsequent to what 

happened, to review the contributions plans.  

 30 

COMMISSIONER: Do you remember which part of government was looking at 

the -  

 

MR MALLARD: It was the Department of Planning.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: Department of Planning. 

 

MR MALLARD: It comes under the Department of Planning. 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, the taskforce you just referred to, was that an internal 40 

Liverpool City Council taskforce?  

 

MR MALLARD: It's my term. It would have been a group that's - was set up 

to - and I was involved with it in the beginning but it's not really my area of 

expertise - to look at contributions plans and how to update them amend them and 45 

make recommendations to the government. I know there were a lot - quite a few 
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meetings at - between council and the department at organisational level about this 

problem. The department is well aware of it. It's not unique to Liverpool.  

 

MS McDONALD: No, I was just wondering - you said that your recollection was 

that the Department of Planning was conducting some review.  5 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, that - they were. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you conduct - and in addition, there was some internal 

review or looking at the issue within Liverpool Council?  10 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, it was - it was a major issue. Political issue for the mayor 

and the councillors, because the community identifies that money in our annual 

report and says - and they bought a house block in, you know, a suburb - Middleton 

Grange or something, and there's a plan for a park - embellished park, not just a 15 

block of land, and it hasn't happened, "Why hasn't it happened?" And they're trying 

to find out why. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, while you were in the car, the mayor entered this meeting. 

And could you hear what was going on with the meeting?  20 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, it was on the loudspeaker on the car. I'm not sure if I was on 

the invitation list for the meeting, but I was a director so it wasn't improper for me to 

be in on it. I may have been invited. I don't think I was, though.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: And when the meeting commenced, did an employee raise an 

issue about the mayor attending the meeting?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, the meeting, as I said, was organised by Mr Breton. Quite a 

few different staff were in the meeting. It was a preliminary meeting to discuss the 30 

challenges around contribution plan, and one of the - the manager of Strategic 

Planning interrupted the sort of preamble to the meeting - we were driving - and said, 

"I need to raise an issue" - I'm paraphrasing - "I've got staff that report to me here. 

We're very uncomfortable being in this meeting, we feel it's operational, the mayor 

shouldn't be involved. It's potential code of conduct." And at that point the mayor, to 35 

his credit, in my view, just hung up the phone straightaway. Didn't participate in any 

discussion, nothing at all, and then we dealt with it back at the office.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. I'll -  

 40 

MR MALLARD: And the result of that was that process was dismantled and a 

formal process was adopted by council, so - 

 

MS McDONALD: If I can just take you through stages.  

 45 

MR MALLARD: Okay. Sorry.  
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MS McDONALD: I'm still at this meeting. Could I bring up a document, please. 

INQ.045.001.0002, please. It can be live streamed. And if we can go through to page 

3, down the bottom, please. If we can stop there. Mr Mallard, can you see this is an 

email from a Luke Oste to Lina Kakish - 

 5 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - and the subject is, "The mayor's attendance"?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. And that's - Luke was the manager of Strategic Planning at 10 

the time.  

 

MS McDONALD: If we go to the next page, which is the rest of the email, can I just 

take you down - just with the signature block, if we can stop - if we can just get - yes. 

No, it's been redacted. Fine. Can you see you've got Luke Oste - it's got "Acting 15 

Manager, City Planning."  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Is that your recollection of the person who spoke at the 20 

beginning of the meeting?  

 

MR MALLARD: Who interrupted the meeting on that issue. That - yes, it is. I don't 

recall that being his title, but no doubt that was his title at the time. But he was in a 

strategic planning area which does deal with contributions plans, as opposed to the 25 

development approval type side of the planning team.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, you weren't party to this email - 

 

MR MALLARD: No.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: - but can I just take you to the top of this page, where he says: 

 

"Emailed you and Jason last week ... never heard back ... Claire and Pierre ... 

uncomfortable but joined once Ned left. [Then] really good initiative ... important 35 

work..."  

 

And then can you see the agenda: overview of the funding position, current status of 

allocated 7.11 funds, capital works priorities, et cetera. Now, just looking at that 

agenda, does that - is that consistent with your recollection of this meeting and what 40 

the meeting was discussing?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, but we let - because the mayor hung up - I think, from 

memory, Jason may have outlined the agenda for that particular meeting and what 

we were trying to achieve over a period of time. And then the point of order was 45 

raised, in effect, and then the mayor left the meeting.  
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MS McDONALD: All right. Now, in your evidence you said that there may have 

been raised something like a potential code of conduct?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, those words were used.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: After you returned to the council, given the words "potential 

code of conduct" were raised, did you go and have a word with Mr Ajaka?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: And did you just raise with Mr Ajaka the circumstances of being 

in the car, the meeting, what was raised and what the mayor did then?  

 

MR MALLARD: The mayor was very distressed, and - I had a relationship with 

Mr Ajaka, as a senior - as a director, to be able to go talk to him frankly about these 15 

things. So I went and saw him - he's on the same floor as me - and outlined what had 

occurred and my opinion - I gave some advice about what I thought the situation 

was, which was that it wasn't a code of conduct, that it was appropriate for the mayor 

to be involved, because these matters are reported to council. Council adopts the -  

 20 

MS McDONALD: What I'm interested in -  

 

MR MALLARD: The - the -  

 

MS McDONALD: You went to Mr Ajaka - 25 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - you said this happened, the words "potential code of conduct" 

was raised.  30 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: You express your opinion on that. And is it your understanding 

that there wasn't a code of conduct complaint or it went no further?  35 

 

MR MALLARD: There - there wasn't a code of conduct complaint, and I - I 

returned - and I relayed some assurances to the mayor from Mr Ajaka that he'd look 

into this. And, in fact, later on - a few days later - Luke came to see me to talk about 

it as well, so - you know, misunderstanding, for want of a better term, and then there 40 

was a different process adopted to go forward.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, I want to move now to a different topic. You 

gave evidence on the last occasion about a workshop that certain sections of the 

operations area of council attended at. I think it was -  45 

 

MR MALLARD: Phillips Park, Lurnea.  
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MS McDONALD: Yes. Thank you. Phillips Park, Lurnea. And you gave evidence 

on the last occasion about a workshop, and there were kind of post-it notes put on the 

wall.  

 5 

MR MALLARD: Mmm.  

 

MS McDONALD: And there was also a discussion about future of directorates?  

 

MR MALLARD: Not quite that. There may have been that discussion - it was a 10 

workshop for a - most of the day. What we did - basic business practice is a SWOT 

analysis - strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats. And there were - it was 

facilitated, coordinated by Michelle McIlvenny, director, and - and you have butcher 

paper around the wall and you have stick-it notes and you put up - each director puts 

up there - a couple -  15 

 

MS McDONALD: Strengths, opportunities -  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, a couple of each one. And it's a brainstorming session, right, 

and that's - yes. So we conducted that exercise. And then if - do you want me to go 20 

on with the evidence from -  

 

MS McDONALD: Well - so you've got the butcher paper with, I take it, strengths, 

another one with opportunities, another one with weaknesses and then threats?  

 25 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: As a director, you had to put some post-it notes up?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: And with the one with "threats", did you put a particular 

comment on a post-it note?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes, I - you could put multiple ones up, and I was - one I put up 35 

was single points of failure, because I had that issue in my communications team, 

where someone went on maternity leave or someone left and we actually couldn't 

cover that responsibility within the team. So we started - we talked about that a bit.  

 

But I put one up which I - and I was nervous about, knew it would be a little bit 40 

provocative, but it was genuine - genuine senior management feedback to the team, 

which was the - a threat to the organisation's performance was that the turnover - I 

maybe used the word "churn" - of CEOs, and it's - related to that is the - I'm not sure 

if I used the word "instability", but the continual restructuring that was going on in 

the organisation, because - and I answered the Commissioner on this question in 45 

evidence before - why that's a threat is because the CEOs change, priorities change 

on CEOs, right?  
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They change personnel, directors and directorates - it's happening right now at 

Liverpool - and then the teams under the directorates have been set in motion on a 

strategy, they've got budgets aligned and that's all up in the air again. And key 

personnel are retrenched or leave. I know that staff have left Liverpool because 5 

they've been unhappy. And then the - and so you keep in this cycle. Yes. And that's a 

threat, so we needed to bed it down.  

 

MS McDONALD: So that's the basis of why you identified that as an issue and why 

you put it on your - the post-it note on the butcher paper in threats.  10 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. It wasn't meant to be a criticism of anyone in the room. It 

was meant to say, you know, we need to - to calm the whole system down.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did that generate some discussion?  15 

 

MR MALLARD: I don't recall discussion from the other directors, but as I said in 

evidence before - and it's in my diary notes - contemporaneous, I wrote it down 

because I was so shocked by it - Mr Breton said - and, like, everyone - everyone 

hears whispers from the mayor's office that City Futures - do you mind if I just check 20 

my note? What I - I actually wrote it down.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can I - 

 

MR MALLARD: But - 25 

 

MS McDONALD: Just before you do that - you kept a contemporaneous note of 

some parts of the discussion on this day?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: And you have brought with you the notebook that you had on 

the - where you made some contemporaneous notes on 27 June of last year?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. They're just jottings. Yes.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. If I show you this document -  

 

MR MALLARD: That's my handwriting.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: Just looking at that one page, is that an extract from that 

notebook? And as it's headed, ELT Workshop 27 June 2024?  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, that one page from the notebook is currently 

being downloaded.  
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COMMISSIONER: I see.  

 

MS McDONALD: Or uploaded. I don't think it's been done yet. We've got pages, so 

we can distribute those.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, and I'll mark it. Hasn't yet got a number, I take it. No. All 

right. The note prepared by Mr Mallard dated 27 June 2024 and referred to in his 

evidence this morning will be MFI 37.  

 10 

<MFI #37 NOTE PREPARED BY MR MALLARD DATED 27/06/2024 AND 

REFERRED TO DURING EVIDENCE ON 19/11/2025  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, you've got that - you've got the copy and you've actually 

got your original notebook as well.  15 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you'll confirm that that photocopy is the relevant page from 

your notebook?  20 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And there's a section which I think has been highlighted: 

 25 

"Whispers from mayor's office that City Futures be gone after September." 

 

It's in inverted commas.  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: What does that indicate?  

 

MR MALLARD: That's a direct quote from the acting CEO. I would have written it 

in the meeting - not as he said it, but after he made that statement - I thought it was 35 

just so offensive. And you'll see I've got "acting CEO" below that.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. 

 

MR MALLARD: The reason I found it offensive is that he made a statement like 40 

that in front of the other directors. It really undermined my standing as a director 

and - I really do believe the - that stick-it note was a very valid management point to 

discuss, but it - and it wasn't aimed at Mr Breton, but it appears he took it personally 

and has - and has turned on me, made that statement. I wrote it down because I was 

so taken back by it.  45 
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MS McDONALD: All right. So your interpretation of the events was that you put up 

that particular stick-it - sticky note under "threats", your interpretation was that 

Mr Breton reacted against that, and then that prompted the comment about "City 

Futures be gone after September"?  

 5 

MR MALLARD: I think he made that comment before any other director could 

comment, and then we moved on. Like, he cut it off.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Did you raise with him at this workshop that you were 

upset or affronted by it? 10 

 

MR MALLARD: No use doing that with Mr Breton. No, I didn't. But I -  

 

MS McDONALD: But -  

 15 

MR MALLARD: Sorry. 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry.  

 

MR MALLARD: No, no. That's all right.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: But after the meeting, did you raise it with anybody else within 

the office?  

 

MR MALLARD: I don't think we returned to the office that day, because I think we 25 

went quite late and our cars were out at Phillips Park, but next time I was in the 

office would have been the next morning. I - Ms Myers, my EA - I relayed it to her 

because I shared many things with her, but I was so - I was - she asked me how it 

went at the workshop, and - and then Julie Scott, who was the senior 

manager - experienced manager in my team, I - I brought her in and had a chat to her 30 

about the workshop in general and that particular comment - one, to record it with 

them, but also I wanted them to have their ear to the ground. I mean, we were on the 

same floor as the mayor's office. We have a lot of engagement with the mayor's 

office. Betty Boustani engaged there. I wanted to know if this is permeating again, 

because I hadn't heard this in recent times.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. That was going to be my next question. At the time of this 

workshop, had you been informed that City Futures, the directorate, was at risk?  

 

MR MALLARD: Only knowledge I had was from when the mayor and Mr Ajaka 40 

had a confrontation. When - this is the first time that it had come back up again since 

Mr Ajaka had left, that - Mr Breton was acting director - that he brought it up.  

 

MS McDONALD: That was part of the swearing meeting that there's been lots of 

evidence about.  45 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: But from the time of - around the time of the swearing meeting 

and the events - or the consequences of that, it hadn't arisen again or been 

mentioned?  

 5 

MR MALLARD: No, I thought we'd moved on from that.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, I want to move back to an issue that you were asked about 

on the last occasion. And this was the circumstances that you've outlined, that in - I 

think in '23 you returned to Liverpool City Council but in the senior adviser role.  10 

 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can I just ask you, when you were appointed on a temporary 

basis to that role, who did you answer to?  15 

 

MR MALLARD: To Mr - the CEO, Mr Ajaka.  

 

MS McDONALD: Ajaka. The senior adviser role, who were you providing advice 

to?  20 

 

MR MALLARD: Well, the PD is to Mr Ajaka and through Mr Ajaka to the ELT, 

but obviously to the councillors as well, as required.  

 

MS McDONALD: So when you say the councillors -  25 

 

MR MALLARD: The mayor and councillors if they needed advice, but it would go 

through Mr Ajaka.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. And when you say it goes through Mr Ajaka, was it 30 

anticipated the procedure would be, for example, "A councillor is interested in X, 

would like some research or advice on it," it should be raised with the CEO, and the 

CEO would then come to you, as senior adviser, and say, "Can you look into X?"  

 

MR MALLARD: No, I don't - that - formally, that could be the way it could be 35 

done, but councillors would - would be able to contact me direct. And I had - I was 

accessible. As we discussed previously, my office was in the suite of the mayor's 

office. And for example, I recall giving some assistance to Councillor Betty Green, 

the Labor councillor who was the mayoral candidate against Ned Mannoun, about 

issues around Miller - Masterplan Miller, because - in Liverpool community.  40 

 

But I - as I gave evidence before, I was only in the job - I hardly had my feet under 

the desk before opportunity came to apply for the director's position. So I didn't have 

a chance to establish a relationship with the new Labor councillors because all the 

Labor councillors were new to me. They weren't the councillors that were there in '12 45 

to '14, where - I had a good relationship with them and wrote speeches for some of 

them and was accessible.  
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MS McDONALD: Okay. 

 

MR MALLARD: My plan was to get to that point, but I moved on. Councillor 

Harte was there from the previous term and I had a good relationship with him.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Harte or Harle?  

 

MR MALLARD: Harle. Sorry. Harle. Confusing we have the two. 

 10 

MS McDONALD: All right. Can - 

 

MR MALLARD: Councillor Harle, who was there in that first term when I was 

there.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: He was there before that.  

 

MR MALLARD: Yes. Well, it's good to have a wise head that's been around a long 

time. I assisted him in that short period of time.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: All right. Okay. Now, as you said, you were then - you 

successfully applied for the director's position and you were appointed to it. On the 

last occasion there was some evidence about how Ms Boustani was eventually 

appointed to your role, but on a temporary basis.  

 25 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just pause for a moment. Is this covered by Mr O'Neill's 

application?  

 30 

MS McDONALD: Well, the evidence has been given before. I was going to take - I 

was going to take Mr Mallard to transcript 1138. I was going to take him to a memo 

to Mr Ajaka dated 6 September 2023. If, as you indicated yesterday, Commissioner, 

you were going to err on the side of caution, then maybe we should, but - 

 35 

COMMISSIONER: I think that's right, only because - and this is not a criticism of 

Mr O'Neill, particularly since he's not here, but I'm not at the moment quite sure of 

the ambit of what he's going to ask me to do. And I don't want to, having - did what I 

did two days ago - unwittingly unwind that. So pursuant to section 12B of the Royal 

Commissions Act, I direct that the next passage of hearing take place in private, and 40 

that the transcript of this passage of the hearing not be published otherwise than in 

accordance with my usual direction, but it can go to Mr O'Neill and those that 

instruct him. Everyone who is in the room can remain, I assume. They're all 

representatives?  

 45 

MS RICHARDSON: There are a couple of work experience students here today. 
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COMMISSIONER: That's - it doesn't pose me any problem. Are they with you, 

Ms Richardson?  

 

MS RICHARDSON: One is with me.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 

 

MS RICHARDSON: One is with someone else. 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And one is with me.  10 

 

COMMISSIONER: They're fine to stay and - I assume you'll tell them what the 

effect of my order is, just to clarify to the extent that - I doubt that they'll be wanting 

to go and talk about it. 

 15 

MS RICHARDSON: Though I understand that they're not allowed to disclose what 

happens to anyone.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Correct. In this next passage of hearing, for those in the back of 

the room, you can't talk about it to anyone who's not in the room. I'm not sure you'll 20 

find it as exciting as the order might suggest.  

 

MR MALLARD: Very disappointing.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Right. In any event. 25 

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 11.01 AM  
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 11.16 AM  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, Ms McDonald.  

 

MS McDONALD: I call Ethan Monaghan.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Just come forward, Councillor. Would you like to take an 

oath or affirmation?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Affirmation, please. 10 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Someone will help you with that.  

 

<Ethan Monaghan, affirmed  

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Take a seat. Yes, Ms McDonald.  

 

MS McDONALD: Please state your full name.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Ethan Monaghan.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Your current occupation?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Solicitor, and councillor on Liverpool City Council.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: Now, for how long have you been a councillor at Liverpool City 

Council.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I was elected in September 2024.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: And are you a councillor who is affiliated with the 

Liberal - sorry, the Labor Party?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: Have you previously contested council elections at Liverpool?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Which years had you previously contested?  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: 2016, 2021, and 2024 where I was successful.  

 

MS McDONALD: And which ward do you represent?  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: South Ward. 
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MS McDONALD: There are a number of different topics I want to raise with you. 

The first matter I want to raise with you is part of the recruitment process for the 

CEO which occurred roughly in January, February, March and then April of this 

year.  

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: The inquiry has heard evidence it was in the October council 

meeting that the council delegated its functions of, if I put it broadly, identifying 

candidates, advertising, shortlisting, interviewing candidates to what was described 10 

as a selection panel.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And at that point, the selection panel was going to consist of the 15 

11 councillors?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: A probity officer?  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And also there was an independent representative, who was 

also - had an association with the recruit agency that was engaged?  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: The recruitment agency at that point was - was it Oceans Group?  

 30 

MR MALLARD: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, if I can just first ask you about what occurred with the 

procedure during January and February - or, I suppose, since the council had 

delegated its duties, was it a matter of engaging the recruitment agency, who then 35 

took over those kind of nuts and bolts matters of advertising, bringing in applicants, 

reviewing the applications and coming down to some kind of shortlist?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: My understanding was that council officers, council staff 

would engage an independent recruitment agency. And once that agency had been 40 

engaged, they would have carriage of the process. They would do those things that 

you've just outlined.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. So the process, the nuts and bolts?  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: And the recruitment panel, and in particular the 11 councillors, 

do you recall - when did you first, in a sense, gather as the selection panel?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Early February or late January of - I don't recall the - 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Councillor - I'm sorry, could I just trouble you to raise your 

voice just a touch?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, of course. Is that better?  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, that's fantastic. The acoustics are not the best.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Not the best. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you, Councillor.  15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Late January or early February of this year. I don't recall the 

specific date of that first meeting.  

 

MS McDONALD: And again, not going into great detail, what was dealt with in the 20 

first meeting? Was it mainly introductory or -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: The recruitment agency was introduced to us. The process that 

they were going to undertake was explained - that they would seek applicants, 

provide a shortlist, and then councillors who were on the panel would make a 25 

selection of a further, shorter list before making a determination.  

 

MS McDONALD: Was part of the process outlined that at some point the issue of 

possible conflicts of interest of members of the selection panel would have to be 

raised and dealt with?  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't recall specifically, but as with any council meeting or 

committee meeting, the obligation to disclose any potential conflicts of interest lay 

with the individual. I don't recall anyone at any meeting raising a conflict of interest 

amongst the entire panel.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: When you say you don't recall anybody disclosing a conflict of 

interest, we have viewed a number of council meetings where the procedure with a 

conflict of interest appears to involve, at least at one level, standing up and, in a 

sense, announcing that to people at the council meeting - that there is either a conflict 40 

of interest and identification of what the interest is, and the proposed way of 

managing or dealing with it.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, that's the ordinary course.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: And - sorry. And your answer that there was never any such 

disclosure, were you referring to that usual course?  
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MR MONAGHAN: That usual course, yes. I wasn't aware of anyone who was on 

the panel declaring any conflicts of interest. Sorry, before you ask the next question, 

is this a fresh glass of water?  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: I think it is, but I'll just have the court officer confirm. I 

thought I saw a fresh one going. It is. Yes. 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Thank you. Thank you.  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Safe.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Thanks.  

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. Could we bring up, please, document 15 

LCC.034.002.0008. It can be live streamed. And if we could go through to page 5. 

Mr Monaghan, if you would look at that document, you can see it's headed Liverpool 

City Council Conflict of Interest Form - Recruitment. If we move down the page, 

section 2, your name appears as a councillor?  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: You tick: 

 

"I have an actual or perceived conflict of interest in the recruitment process." 25 

 

And you set out the details in 4: 

 

"I have worked with Tina Bono and Jason Breton in my role as a councillor." 

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: If we go to the next page, at the top, under section 5, you give an 

assessment of the significance of that conflict of interest.  

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Ticking "less than significant". You then sign - which has been 

redacted - on 13 February 2025, this form?  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Could you outline - I'm sorry, withdraw that. This form was 

completed at a meeting of the selection panel?  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, it was.  
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MS McDONALD: Can you recall the circumstances in which it was signed?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't recall specifically. I do recall that an information packet, 

including this document, was circulated at that meeting, and that's the declaration 

that I made when I said I wasn't aware of anyone else - anybody - I meant anyone 5 

other than myself. But yes, the document was handed around and we were asked to 

fill it out and return it. I never - sorry, I should clarify. I never stood up and said and 

disclosed to everyone in the room that this is my conflict.  

 

MS McDONALD: You filled it out. Was it, again, a matter of you filled it out 10 

and - when I say "in private", not in a private room but just to yourself you 

completed it?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: Filled it out and then handed it to whom?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't recall exactly who it was. Given the document, and this 

is only speculating, it's likely to have been Craig Knappick, who was the council 

officer who was overseeing the process - in conjunction, as I said, with the 20 

recruitment agency. But again, that's me speculating, putting events back together in 

my mind as I'm being asked the question.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, Councillor, Ms McDonald. I've been told that we've 

been hit by the -  25 

 

MS McDONALD: The bug.  

 

COMMISSIONER: By the bug. So I'm sorry - Councillor, you might not have 

heard me say this morning that there's a worldwide outage of Cloudflare you might 30 

have seen in the paper, which I'm told is giving us a network issue which might 

affect our transcription. So I know you've only been going for a little while, but what 

I'll do is I'll take morning tea now, and we can adjust lunch times and - 

 

MS McDONALD: We'll work it out.  35 

 

COMMISSIONER: - the other sitting times to try to ensure that the councillor is 

through today.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  40 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. I'll resume at 10 to 12. I'm sorry for the trouble, 

Councillor. 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, no. That's fine. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: Councillor - sorry. Commissioner, could I just, through you -  
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COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: We do - we were aiming to finish Mr Monaghan's evidence 

today.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: If, as yesterday, we sat a bit longer, could I just make an inquiry 

through you of other legal representatives that - if they can - if they do have a 10 

commitment after 4, if it could possibly be re-organised, or if they could let me know 

and we'll try and accommodate it. 

 

COMMISSIONER: I'll leave that to you and your colleagues. But given the limited 

number of hearing days, if a longer sitting can be accommodated, I'd be most 15 

grateful - and of course the convenience of the witness, but making sure we finish on 

time by the end of next week. 10 to 12. Feel free to - 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Thank you.  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: - exit the room, Councillor, and stretch your legs. 

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 11.29 AM  

 

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 11.58 AM  25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Force of habit, I understand, but no need to stand.  

 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, can we just interrupt the evidence of 

Mr Monaghan. I've been told by my learned friend that there is no - she does not 30 

need to cross-examine Mr Mallard on his evidence this morning.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Okay.  

 

MS McDONALD: My understanding is nobody else in the room needed to 35 

cross-examine him. 

 

COMMISSIONER: No one's jumping up to correct you, so that's a safe sign.  

 

MS McDONALD: What we have done - Mr Mallard and his counsel are not in the 40 

building but are in the vicinity.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: We've informed them of Ms Richardson's position.  45 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: If it was convenient to you, do you - would you like them back 

in the hearing room or -  

 

COMMISSIONER: No. No, there's no need to call him back in here only for me to 5 

tell him he's not needed.  

 

MS McDONALD: And for abundant caution, could it be still on the same basis? 

That he's not excused from his summons - 

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Of course.  

 

MS McDONALD: - but not required to be back here today to give any further 

evidence.  

 15 

COMMISSIONER: I'm content for all that to be communicated to his counsel, with 

the caveat, of course, that if she wished to examine him on any of the matters that 

she would have that opportunity. But if she doesn't need to, then there's no need for 

them to present themselves again. If that could be done straightaway, I'd be most 

grateful.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Would you just excuse me. We understand that Ms Gallagher 

didn't have any questions for Mr Mallard, and that has been conveyed to -  

 

COMMISSIONER: Excellent. Thank you.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And we're all back on the system?  

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm told we're all back. Yes.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: Now - I'm sorry, Mr Monaghan, I was talking to you about the 

selection panel and the conflict of interest form. This was the one that you 

completed. And again, my note was that your recollection was the panel was there, 

you got an information pack, this was one of the documents. I assume, as - because 

you identified on the first page a possible conflict in respect of Mr Breton and Ms 35 

Bono, as they had been employed at the council while you'd been a councillor -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - you had been provided with some form of shortlist by that 40 

point?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No. We were provided the shortlist - my memory of this 

meeting isn't as clear as it is of the subsequent meeting - 20 February. I can't 

recall - we may have been given the shortlist of 11 on that day.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: Which - when you say on that -  
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MR MONAGHAN: 13 February. We may have, but I don't recall specifically.  

 

MS McDONALD: We have conflict of interest forms that were completed by the 

other councillors who at that point were members of the selection panel. If I can 5 

bring one up - which is HAR.001.001.0001. While that's being done, your conflict of 

interest was because of the employment of Mr Breton and Ms Bono?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: Did you assume that that conflict of interest was probably a 

conflict of interest that your fellow councillors would also have, because it arose 

from the fact that they were employed at the council during your period of being a 

councillor?  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't think I made that assumption at the time. I was simply 

given the form and I - that was the only conflict I could identify, and out of an 

abundance of caution I filled it out the way I did. Looking back on it from today, that 

assumption is fairly obvious. Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: At the time, you didn't see other of the members of the selection 

panel - their conflict of interest form?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: Yes, please. Sorry.  

 

COMMISSIONER: When the form was provided to you and your colleagues, was 

there any guidance or information given to you about how you should approach it in 

the context of this selection panel?  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: This is a conflict of interest form completed, if we move down 

the page, by Councillor Harte.  35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I can see that. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. And you can see under the details of the conflict of interest 

he identifies Jason Breton and Tina Bono. Again, if I can summarise, in respect of 40 

both there is at least an identification of - if I call it the employment link. But in 

addition, in respect of Mr Breton, you can see that there is a reference to previously 

providing advice to Mr Breton in an election campaign, et cetera.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  45 
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MS McDONALD: Were you informed in the lead-up to the ultimate appointment of 

the CEO of this conflict of interest that Mr Harte identified in this form?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. And if I can bring up 

LCC.034.002.0008. Sorry, before we go there, if we move on to the next page. After 

Mr Harte's signature you've got - you can see section 7, Management of Conflict of 

Interest. That section is to be completed by Talent Acquisition and Improving 

officer, and it's just empty.  10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  

 

MS McDONALD: So I take it, following from - you had no idea of that additional 

aspect of a conflict of interest, that management of that conflict of interest - what it 15 

actually involved, exploring it in any detail was not pursued?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I can't say what other people -  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, pursued in your presence.  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, certainly - I wasn't aware that this document was signed, 

filled out or prepared by Councillor Harte.  

 

MS McDONALD: Or the - and the content of it.  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Or the content. No, I didn't even know the document itself 

existed, let alone the content.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. The next one that I was asking you about - did I give 30 

you the number? Sorry? Yes. If we keep on going down the page - this is by the 

mayor, Mr Mannoun. Again - now, this time he identifies three people, including Dr 

Eddie Jackson, but you can see the first aspect of it is because they either previously 

or were being currently employed at the council?  

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then you can see: 

 

"In addition, I also know Jason Breton from the 2021 council election through each 40 

other's campaign." 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I can see that, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So that additional - sorry, I'll start again. This - and I think if we 45 

just go to the second page, we can confirm that Mr Mannoun signed that on 13 

February.  
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  

 

MS McDONALD: That would suggest that it was filled out at the meeting where 

you filled out your form?  5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It would suggest that, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Under section 7, management of Conflict of Interest, Mr - I think 

that's - Mr Mannoun has put:  10 

 

"I will stay and participate." 

 

But again, there would appear to be an absence of any completion by the Talent 

Acquisition and Improving officer.  15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And again, up until the appointment of the CEO in April, did you 

know - had you seen this form completed by Mr Mannoun?  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did you know of that additional aspect of a conflict of interest 

that he refers to about knowing Mr Breton through each other's campaigns in 2021?  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: And again, to your knowledge, the management of that second 

part of the conflict of interest never raised - to your knowledge or in your presence?  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: The procedure that you referred to before the break that usually 

occurs in council meetings of, in a sense, a public statement of the conflict and then 35 

a - again, public statement of "and this is the way I proposed to manage it", what do 

you see - the benefits of that public disclosure to your fellow council members at that 

meeting?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: So that all councillors are aware of a potential conflict, and 40 

they can take any action that they think is necessary in respect of what they've found 

out.  

 

MS McDONALD: Does that also raise that - for example, if it was proposed "I will 

manage it in this way," if a councillor - another councillor had issues about that, they 45 

could raise it?  
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes, of course.  

 

MS McDONALD: And also ask questions about the conflict of interest, what it 

actually involves, more details about it if insufficient details were provided -  

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - by the original councillor?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, of course.  10 

 

COMMISSIONER: Are you a member of any committees, Councillor?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Not currently, no.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: Have you, during your time as a councillor?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. For the first 12 months I was on a number of committees, 

but I'm no longer on any committees.  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: What's the procedure adopted at committee meetings for 

disclosure of potential conflicts of interest?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I'm not sure. The reason why I'm no longer on any committees 

is the time constraints of the ordinary obligations as a councillor, my professional 25 

obligations, personal obligations meant that I couldn't attend committees, so I -  

 

COMMISSIONER: So from the period where you were on committees, you didn't 

have experience of that issue coming up?  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: I want to take you back to the chronology with the selection 

panel towards the beginning of the year. We had this meeting on 13 February. It 

suggests that there's some kind of shortlist at that point. Was it then scheduled that 35 

members of the shortlist would be interviewed?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That was - at some point, yes, it was anticipated that the top - I 

can't remember how many it was, but maybe between - I think maybe three and six 

were going to be, if not - yes, interviewed. Yes, there was discussion about what 40 

questions may or may not have been asked of them.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, that meeting occurred on the 13th. You've already referred 

to the meeting on the 20th. Do you recall - were there any meetings in between that?  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: I can't recall, but I don't think so.  
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MS McDONALD: The meeting on the 20th, how did it arise?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I'm not sure if it was a scheduled meeting or not. It may have 

been a last-minute or urgent request for the panel to meet, because of a potential leak 

of one of the - the details of the one of the applicants.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: You attended the meeting on the 20th?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: After attending that meeting on the 20th, did you write a letter to 

Michelle McIlvenny about some of your observations of what occurred at that 

meeting?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I was asked by Michelle for my recollections and I provided 15 

that in the form of a letter, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Could we bring up, please, LCC.003.001.0040.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Are you going to aspects of the meeting that I've dealt with in 20 

private?  

 

MS McDONALD: Would you just excuse me.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just before the document is put on the live stream.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: I thought I might be able to avoid it, but looking at the contents 

of the letter, maybe for abundant caution.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Mr Parish - I'll do it. Mr Parish, are we any closer to having 30 

a - are we any closer to having a solution on how to traverse these issues?  

 

MR PARISH: Yes, we are closer. I don't have a solution for you right now, but we 

are closer.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: Okay. I'm not sure what that means.  

 

MS McDONALD: Could I just propose the following. I'm sorry to interrupt you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: Or interrupt -  

 

COMMISSIONER: You proceed, Ms McDonald. I think they're having a chat.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: I might just ask some questions. And in - may I just ask, 

Mr Monaghan, if in answering them you're going to move to the content of what 
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happened - your recollection of 20 February, could you indicate that because for 

certain reasons we have to move into a closed session. 

 

COMMISSIONER: I think, Ms McDonald, it might just be safer to go into private. 

I'm appreciative of the attempt to try and do it all in public, but the councillor might 5 

not necessarily know if he's going to traverse into areas that have been dealt with in 

private.  

 

So pursuant to section 12B of the Royal Commissions Act, I direct that the next 

passage of hearing take place in private, that the transcript of this passage of the 10 

hearing not be published otherwise than in accordance with my usual direction. 

Those who are currently in the hearing room can remain in the hearing room. And I'll 

just pause for a moment till the operator tells me we're good to go.  

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 12.15 PM 15 
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 12.43 PM  

 

MS McDONALD: I don't - Commissioner, can I just raise - we have had - I think 

after you suggested this - a transcript of the particular section -  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Is this another one of my unhelpful interventions?  

 

MS McDONALD: It has been, but it is helpful.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: Ms Hamilton-Jewell the other day raised, in her view, some 

inaccuracies.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I see. Okay.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: What I propose to do is - without revisiting the video, et 

cetera - to see if Mr Monaghan can assist us with particular points and what - his 

recollection of what was occurring at that time. If I need to prompt him, I've got the 

video, I've got this transcript. If I show him the transcript, it would be on the basis of 20 

just prompting his evidence, so that - or his recollection of the events at that meeting. 

If there are some inaccuracies in who said what or what was said, I don't think it's 

going to, in a sense, affect the reason why I'm using it with Mr Monaghan.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Ms Hamilton-Jewell, is that an appropriate course 25 

or - 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: That is an appropriate course. There's a line of text 

that's attributed to the CEO Mr Breton when it's, in fact, Councillor Ristevski.  

 30 

COMMISSIONER: I see.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: But it - it's actually later in the piece and I don't think 

it will relate to the matters.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: All right.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if it comes up, I'll raise it with senior counsel 

assisting.  

 40 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. And, Councillor, if at any stage you want see the 

meeting or the transcript, that can be arranged.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Thank you.  

 45 
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MS McDONALD: And I'm trying to shortcut, Mr Monaghan, but if in shortcutting 

it, as the Commissioner said, please speak up and I can show you the video or 

whatever.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, of course.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, do you recall at this meeting there was what was known as 

COM 04 motion dealing with a conference in Hong Kong that the mayor wanted to 

attend, or had been invited to attend?  

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And it was an aerotropolis conference in Hong Kong?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: And a motion was put forward along the lines of "the mayor will 

attend", and then I think there was a provision along the lines of an alternative officer 

could also attend, and the council could pay for that.  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, again, while that motion was brought forward for debate, 

Councillor Macnaught spoke to the motion and endorsed it, and then Councillor 

Ristevski states that he would like to attend the conference and suggests that the 25 

motion be amended but he will pay his own way.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, after that - and again I'm just summarising it - there seems 30 

to be a debate within the council about does that need - does the motion need to be 

amended to include that, if Councillor Ristevski was going to pay his own way can 

he just go in that fashion, et cetera. And at one point Councillor Ristevski makes a 

comment along the lines - excuse me for a minute - that he would sit next to the 

mayor or he could travel with the mayor.  35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I recall that.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm not sure that's quite right.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: I was just -  

 

COMMISSIONER: I know, but there might some -  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. 45 
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COMMISSIONER: There might - I think - my recollection of the phrasing is 

something like, "It would be an opportunity for us to travel together," or words to 

that effect. There might just be some sensitivity about quite how it was phrased.  

 

MS McDONALD: Look, I'm sorry, if I can bring up INQ.091.001.0004. Yes, 5 

please. Sorry. Second page. You can see, at the top:  

 

"Next item is Mayoral Attendance at the Fifth Annual Aerotropolis Conference..."  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: Moving down that page, we've got - Deputy Mayor Macnaught 

is the new seconder. She speaks in favour of it.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: And then if we can move down, we've got Councillor Ristevski: 

 

"Yeah, look, I totally agree with everything she just said. I would actually love to 

attend, but I will pay my own airfare, accommodation so it doesn't cost the ratepayer 20 

anything." 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Mmm.  

 

MS McDONALD: The mayor says: 25 

 

"That would be - well, I think - how would that work? That's a - I think you'd have to 

contact the organisers and you can do that yourself. Doesn't need a resolution to do 

that. And that would be..."  

 30 

And then Councillor Ristevski says: 

 

"Can we - since there's a motion there that says the CEO or alternative officer, why 

don't we change that and put my name on there? It would be a good opportunity to 

travel together." 35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I see that.  

 

MS McDONALD: Then the mayor says: 

 40 

"I don't see any humour in your statement..." 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Then the debate continues, I think, along the lines of, you know, 45 

does it have to be amended or, you know, can Councillor Ristevski just attend. 
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Excuse me for a minute. And then if we go to the top of page 3, the mayor seems to 

treat that proposal as an amendment.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Then he says: 

 

"The amendment lapses." 

 

And then it seems that Councillor Karnib says, "Look, I'll second it."  10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then we've got further debate about the amendment. And 

then right down the bottom of the page, you say, "I've got a question." And you say: 15 

 

"Is this an amendment or a foreshadowed motion? Is this an amendment to the 

original motion moved in the name of Macnaught and Ammoun or is it a 

foreshadowed motion?"  

 20 

And then across the page, the mayor says: 

 

"I think I actually take this as a foreshadowed motion." 

 

And then you raise:  25 

 

"In that event, do the mover and the seconder - do they support amending their 

motion or not?" 

 

And then we've got:  30 

 

"No."  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I see that.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: Then we continue - sorry. Excuse me for a minute. All right. If 

we move to page 6. At line 20, we've got the mayor saying: 

 

"I'll put the motion as for the screen. All those in favour, please raise your hands. 

Against? I'll do the screen. All those in favour, please raise your hands. Against? I 40 

declare the motion lost. Great." 

 

Then he says: 

 

"We now - we'll now deal with the foreshadowed motion. And, Councillors, I have to 45 

inform you in order to deal with the foreshadowed motion we would need to go into 

a closed session." 
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And refers to a section of the Local Government Act.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: And then Councillor Ristevski raises: 

 

"What does that mean for everyone in the audience?" 

 

The mayor then responds - this is down at level - 35. He disagrees: 10 

 

"I move we stay in open session." 

 

And then the mayor, at the bottom, moves the motion to go into closed session. Then 

across the road - sorry, "across the road" - next page: 15 

 

"I declare it lost. Thank you, Councillors. I'll be removing myself from the chair and 

ask the deputy mayor to take over." 

 

And at that point the mayor leaves the meeting.  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, can I just ask you - there, where there is suddenly - the 

foreshadowed motion is raised, the mayor says, "We need to move into a closed 25 

session," did you know what - what did you think was going on at that point? Did 

you realise why -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, he didn't explain why. Didn't know.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: You voted against moving into the closed session?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And for what reason?  35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think as much as possible of our council meetings ought to be 

public. General principle that I have.  

 

MS McDONALD: And your evidence is here it wasn't expressly stated why it had 40 

to be moved into closed session?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

COMMISSIONER: You're agreeing with the proposition?  45 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Sorry, yes, I'm agreeing with the proposition. Yes.  
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COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, it would appear that the meeting continues, but at this 

point I think it's - is it Deputy Mayor Harle that goes - resumes the chair?  5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we go across to page 8, at about line 12 we've got 

Councillor Harte saying: 10 

 

"Ms Deputy Mayor [who's Ms Macnaught], I just want to raise - is the reason why 

the mayor has stepped out relating to a WHS issue?" 

 

And Deputy Mayor Harle says: 15 

 

"And that's why we wanted to go into confidential." 

 

Now, Councillor Harte raising a WHS issue, is that the first time the work health and 

safety matter or issue was raised?  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: When was it raised before?  

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: 20 February.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. But at this point in the meeting, when Councillor Harte 

raised it - says, "I want to raise is the reason why the mayor has stepped out relating 

to a work health or safety issue," is that when - what was your understanding of the 30 

basis - or what Councillor Harte was raising then?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Again, at the time I made the assumption that it related to what 

was discussed at the 20 February 2025. I'm not sure how much detail I can go into 

that, given that my evidence for that was in closed session.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't know if I can explain that now or - 

 40 

COMMISSIONER: We'll see where we go next.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: But from that answer, do I understand that when the deputy 45 

mayor made that comment that's on the screen at about line 12 - tell me if I've 
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misunderstood you, but is it at that point that you - it came to mind that that might 

have something to do with the 20 February - the events of 20 February?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Now, when that is raised, there seems to be a few - and could I 

just inquire, where it's got "Chief Executive Breton", is that where it's Councillor 

Ristevski?  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Correct. 10 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: That line, line 17. It's the text that's attributed to 

Mr Breton:  15 

 

"I'd rather we don't."  

 

And again at 27, where it's - line 27? 

 20 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Yes, where it says:  

 

"CHIEF EXECUTIVE BRETON: Closed session is not recorded."  25 

 

Both of those two sections, according to my notes, are actually words spoken by 

Councillor Ristevski.  

 

COMMISSIONER: The assisting team can check, but that - 30 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - generally accords with my recollection of the video. Are they 

the only two issues with the transcript, if I can put it that way?  35 

 

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: They're the only ones of importance.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: Now - excuse me for a minute. There's further discussion about 

whether a closed session is called for, but ultimately the meeting didn't move into a 

closed session.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  45 
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MS McDONALD: Again, just trying to summarise it, it appears, then, that there is a 

break and then there's a motion to rescind the previous motion?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. So the substantive motion was the motion before council 

that was in the book, moved by Councillor Macnaught. Then there was the 5 

foreshadowed motion. The initial motion was voted on. It was -  

 

MS McDONALD: Lost.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: - lost. Foreshadowed motion became the motion. That was 10 

successful. There was brief recess, and councillors returned and there was an attempt 

to rescind what had just passed.  

 

MS McDONALD: And that had originally been the foreshadowed motion?  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And after that rescission motion was lost, a number of the 

councillors - those associated or affiliated with the Liberal Party then left the 

meeting?  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did you understand - I'm sorry, withdraw that. Was it discussed 

why they were going to leave the meeting?  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't recall. I'd have to have a look at the transcript.  

 

MS McDONALD: Your recollection of what occurred - excuse me. I do apologise. I 

think I'm finding more attribution issues with -  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: All right.  

 

MS McDONALD: With the transcript. For example, if we go to page 11 - you might 

have said this, it doesn't seem consistent - at line 30, after meeting resumed, Deputy 35 

Mayor Harle says: 

 

"I believe you have a rescission motion."  

 

And then they attribute to you, "Yes, I do," to know the recission motion in regard to 40 

the previous motion put as a matter of occupational health and safety.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That wasn't me.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 45 

 

COMMISSIONER: No.  
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MS McDONALD: I think it was Councillor - 

 

COMMISSIONER: It was Councillor Harte or Ammoun.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: - Ammoun.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Ammoun. Anyway, it wasn't the councillor -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, it wasn't me. 10 

 

COMMISSIONER: - who's here with us today.  

 

MS McDONALD: And again, ultimately, as I've said, the rescission motion failed. 

The councillors affiliated with the Liberal Party left the meeting, but there was still a 15 

quorum?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And the meeting continued.  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And the various other items on the agenda for the meeting were 

dealt with.  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Rather swiftly and efficiently, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Okay. Now, can I just ask you - you've said when the 

original motion to move into closed session was pressed it wasn't explained and you 30 

didn't understand the basis for it.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: It wasn't explained. As I said, I could - I assumed what it was 

about when WHS was raised, but that was only my assumption. It wasn't confirmed.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: You stayed and, as you said, voted on the foreshadowed motion 

and continued the meeting. Did you have any view about work health and safety 

when it came into your mind that it may have been associated with 20 February - as 

to what you should have done or whether you had any question about your conduct 

in staying in the meeting?  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: And why not?  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: I'd have to discussion what was said at the 20 February meeting 

to answer that. I'm not sure if I can -  
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MS McDONALD: Commissioner, I would like to hear the answer.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. All right. I'm grateful for your caution, Councillor.  

 5 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Pursuant to section 12B of the Royal Commissions Act, I direct 

that the next passage of hearing take place in private, that the transcript of this 

passage of hearing not be published otherwise than in accordance with my usual 10 

direction. Those who are currently in the room can remain.  

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 1.03 PM 

 

  15 
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 2.17 PM  

 

MS McDONALD: I understand Mr Parish has an issue.  

 

MR PARISH: Short housekeeping matter - 5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MR PARISH: - rather than issue. You may have noticed that we've been booting out 

our instructing solicitor during closed sessions, and we did that out of - you didn't 10 

notice.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I noticed her leaving. I didn't realise it was a direction as 

opposed to - yes. (Crosstalk).  

 15 

MR PARISH: We were doing it out of abundant caution because we didn't think she 

was quite covered by the terms of your usual direction or order due to the title of her 

job.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Okay.  20 

 

MR PARISH: So we were just wondering if the usual order or direction could be 

amended to include "acting senior solicitor". I think the wording currently refers to 

the general counsel.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: General counsel or any person occupying that position.  

 

MR PARISH: Yes. Which we decided she is actually not.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Okay. All right. I will vary the usual direction, which I 30 

described in the transcript on a day I now can't remember, but it - that probably 

doesn't matter -  

 

MR PARISH: No. 

 35 

COMMISSIONER: To include -  

 

MR PARISH: "Acting senior solicitor".  

 

COMMISSIONER: - the person occupying the title "acting senior solicitor". Does 40 

that cover it?  

 

MR PARISH: Thank you, Commissioner. Thank you. 

 

COMMISSIONER: I now also know why Mr Emmett's not here.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  
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MR PARISH: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Someone will pass on my congratulations to him on his 

appointment?  5 

 

MR PARISH: Will do.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  

  10 

MS McDONALD: Mr Monaghan, I just wanted to take you to a letter to close off 

the issue of the code of conduct complaints.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: This is -  

 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, are we in private?  

 

MS McDONALD: It doesn't have to be in private.  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: You continue.  

 

MS McDONALD: Unless Mr Parish leaps to his feet.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: We'll proceed and see how we go.  

 

MS McDONALD: Could you bring up, please, LCC.003.002.0763. Would you just 

excuse me for a minute. If we can just show it on the screen, not live stream. This 

was just closing off that issue. This is a letter addressed to you from David Galpin, 30 

the general counsel, referring to code of conduct complaint.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  

 

MS McDONALD: Refer - and do you recall receiving this letter?  35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: It refers to your recent correspondence to the acting chief 

executive James - Breton, and then it identifies two complaints, one of 24 Feb and 40 

one of 27 Feb. The one that is 27 February, does that appear to have arisen from the 

letter that I took you to immediately before lunch of 26 February?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: It seems that way, yes.  

 45 
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MS McDONALD: Right. And your evidence that you gave this morning that - in a 

sense, you weren't intending to raise a code of conduct complaint but you sent the 

correspondence and then you were informed that they had been treated as such -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: - that's reflected in this correspondence?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: Now, I wanted to move to some different topics. The first one 

broadly concerns the economic position of the council.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: Now, when - you were elected, I think, in September of last 

year?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: There was a meeting of the council in October, where there was 

a motion seeking an amendment to the budget. Do you recall that?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, I don't recall that.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: I might have described it incorrectly. Could we bring up 

INQ.001.001.1122. Maybe an adjustment to the budget. Does that ring a bell?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, it doesn't.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

COMMISSIONER: We'll go to the agenda or the minutes. It might assist.  

 

MS McDONALD: November of last year. Because you weren't a councillor when 35 

the budget for the '24-'25 financial year was approved?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes, please. And we see the minutes of the ordinary meeting 40 

held on 26 November?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you're there.  45 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: And if we go through to page 30, please. Can you see there it 

starts off with a motion: 

 

"This item be deferred and be dealt with as part of Project 26 report." 5 

 

That was lost?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: Then you have the motion. And if we can just move down the 

page, that - the preliminary forecast of a surplus - sorry. Basically, it's seeking an 

adjustment because a proposed sale of 3 Hoxton Park Road, Liverpool, would not 

proceed?  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And that had an effect on the overall foreshadowed position of 

the budget -  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - whether the council finances would be in deficit or surplus?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And you voted in favour of this motion?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: Why did you vote in favour of it?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That parcel of land, with the appropriate leasing arrangements, 

could have been an income-generating asset for the council. So I was of the view that 

the land should not be sold, be retained in council's hands to generate an income for 35 

the longer term.  

 

MS McDONALD: And does that reflect a philosophy of yours that if it's a council 

asset and can generate future income, prima facie it should be retained?  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Part of the resolution includes directing the acting CEO to secure 

an optimal leasing option for - and, sorry, the parcel of land was 3 Hoxton Park 

Road.  45 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: And report back to council as to any lease. Was that pursued?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: And what's your understanding of the position of that property at 

the moment?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That there is an organisation there. I'm not sure if I can go into 

the detail of it, but it is now generating an income for council.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: So leased and generating an income?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: I want to raise with you some recent questions with notice that 

you have raised at council.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: And it goes to the overall issue of the financial position of 

council.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: Before taking you to those, what is - do you have concerns about 

the financial position of council?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: What are those concerns?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: We were very recently - we very recently finalised the 

budget - I think in about May of this year the budget was finalised. It was adopted in 

June. The briefings that we'd had in relation to the budget was a modest surplus of 35 

about 850 - or $880,000 would be achieved. Subsequently, in early November there 

was a governance meeting. An agenda was put out for that meeting, which indicated 

that council was likely to fail to reach a surplus of $850,000 and that it was very 

likely to record a surplus. That document, I believe, indicated a surplus of about 14 

million. 40 

 

MS McDONALD: A surplus?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Deficit, sorry. Deficit of about 14 million.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: And attendance at that governance meeting, did that then cause 

you to pose some questions with notice?  
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MR MONAGHAN: I could - I couldn't attend that governance meeting, which is 

why I placed questions on notice on the business paper.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can we go to INQ.085.001.0001. Live streamed. And the first 5 

page. It's under Council Agenda, but if we go through to page 126 - is the procedure 

with questions with notice they're posed and, in a sense, answered and then included 

in the agenda?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: Right. The first question with notice is the unrestricted cash 

reserves. And if we can move down to the two questions. You ask whether the 

council held the 25 million in unrestricted cash reserves as at 30 June. If not, why 

not, and is the council projected to hold the same amount in unrestricted cash 15 

reserves as at 30 June. And if not, why not. 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then if we can then move down to the response, the 30 June 20 

position is not going to be - is not the position. So it did not have the 25 million. And 

then, if we have a look at the answer - the variance - at least part of the variance is 

that there was an expected payment from built that didn't occur?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I can see that.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And then, in addition, was there any other explanation as to why 

it wasn't reached?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No. That - that's the answer I received.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: And then if we keep on going, there's an answer: 

 

"Building unrestricted general reserves up to $25 million is challenging, unless 

council makes a conscious decision to apply for a special rate variation and/or 35 

proceeds with the disposal of identified uneconomical assets." 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I see that.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then the answers to: 40 

 

"Is there going to be 25 million at the end of this financial year?" 

 

The answer was "no", for the same reasons.  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: But our understanding, I think, is that the built money has come 

in.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I'm not aware. Don't know.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Well, what's the - where did the $25 million figure come from 

in your question?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: At the end of 2024, in late November there was an emergency 

budget meeting. I can't recall the exact date. It may have been in early December, but 10 

there was a - definitely an urgent meeting to discuss the budget. I don't know if I can 

go into too much detail, given it was confidential, but it was concern about council's 

liquidity in respect of our obligations to certain loans, and it was suggested to us that 

we needed to have 25 - by council officers that we needed to have $25 million in 

unrestricted cash reserves by 30 June 2025.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: So where you ask about that figure, that's where it came from?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: The reference in the second answer to "unidentified 

uneconomical assets", do you know what that's referring to?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: And the reference there to "unless council makes a conscious 

decision to apply for a special rate variation", that's a variation where there's a 

special application for an additional percentage of rates to be applied?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's how I understand it, yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: And in your experience with the Liverpool City Council, has that 

ever been sought?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Not in the term that I've been on council, and I'm not aware of 35 

others.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Has it been considered in the current term?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: If we continue down the page - and keep on going - I think we 

come to another question. And this is - have we got it up there? Yes. The question 

where you raise the projection at the end of the last financial year of a .8 million 

dollar surplus and what is the current projected budget position. And if we go down 45 

to the answer, the answers - is it your understanding that that - that the reason set out 

in 2 reflected the report to the governance committee?  
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And the inquiry has heard some up-to-date evidence from 

Mr Nadan from the council, and I think he was the one who prepared that report.  5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It's either him or Mr Portelli, but I can't recall precisely who.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then if you look at question 3, as to what is the current 

projected final budget position, it says: 10 

 

"Won't achieve the original 0.8." 

 

And then a - is that: 

 15 

"A quarter 1 budget review is currently underway and a revised projection, once 

there is greater certainty regarding the above matters, will be reported to council in 

its November meeting." 

 

You haven't had the November meeting yet?  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: Is that next week?  

 25 

MR MALLARD: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Do you know or is it too early to determine whether that revised 

projection has been made?  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: Too early.  

 

MS McDONALD: Too early. If in - consistently with the answer that was given, it 

should be part of a report to council for the meeting next week?  

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And so at the moment you can't assist us as to what the revised 

position is?  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: Well, my understanding is the revised position - or a 

preliminary revised position is in the governance papers, at about - $14 million -  

 

MS McDONALD: About 14 million.  

 45 
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MR MONAGHAN: - deficit. I asked at the council meeting - where this question 

was on notice - what that figure would be, given the figure's not included in the 

answer. I think the CEO said words to the effect of "circa 10 to 12 million".  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we keep on going - I think you had another question on 5 

notice, but I don't know - this was the asbestos contamination. We asked 

Mr Knappick some questions about this yesterday. If we just look at the response 

there, it refers to memos from the director of Operations on those days.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: Have you received those memos?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: Did they answer the questions that you'd asked?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Not satisfactorily. That's why I asked. Also, those memos, the 

answer - the response neglects to mention are confidential.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Right. We haven't got those memos at the moment. Are you able 

to say in the open session what your concerns are with this issue?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: My concerns are exactly what the questions are - the timeline 

about what council knew and when.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And that - and, I'm sorry, we're a little bit blind because we don't 

have the memos at the moment. Your position is the memos that are referred to there 

don't answer those questions?  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: Not satisfactorily, no. That's why I asked.  

 

COMMISSIONER: In a general sense, do you know if this issue is subject to any 

ongoing review or investigation?  

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: At the council meeting I made my concerns with this answer 

quite clear, and was told that they're confidential because there are ongoing 

investigations. I asked for an updated memo about those investigations - of the 

status, progress, things of that nature. I was told by the director we would receive 

one. I don't recall receiving one.  40 

 

COMMISSIONER: Have the papers for the next meeting come out yet?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: They haven't come out yet, but we've received memos in the 

meantime.  45 

 

COMMISSIONER: I understand.  
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MR MONAGHAN: Separate from the agenda.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I understand that. I was just - if they had come out, I was 

curious whether there was a report coming to you next week. But you don't know 5 

that yet?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, I don't know that yet.  

 

MS McDONALD: And according to the answer, the last memo you received was 10 10 

October?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: That's correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: And were you anticipating after 10 October an updated memo?  15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: An updated memo specifically about what investigations were 

occurring, who was undertaking these investigations. Progress, status, things of that 

nature.  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: Other than the - just going back to the financial position of 

council - other than the variance from the projected surplus to the now anticipated 

deficit, did you have any other concerns about the financial position of the council 

into the future?  

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: I'm concerned about the significant variance, because - in my 

term at least, when I - when we were first elected in September 2024, a similar 

variance occurred. There were - the initial projection was a $2 million or thereabouts 

surplus. The actual financial position at the end of last financial year was a deficit in 

the order of about $11 million.  30 

 

I'm concerned about not only what causes or - or financial circumstances cause the 

deficit or surplus, but how one projection can be so widely different from the 

financial - final financial position. But I asked questions about it because finances 

aren't my exact forte, so I like to try and get a bit more clarity about that. But I'm, 35 

yes, concerned.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Leaving to one side projections and variances, are there any 

other aspects of the financial position of the council that cause you concern at the 

moment?  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It's primarily that variance and what causes it, and 

better - being able to better project and manage those variances.  

 

MS McDONALD: I want to ask you some questions generally about the code of 45 

conduct. And I'm really not seeking to drill down to any particular complaints, but 

I'm interested in your views - or your evidence about the tension that appears to arise 
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from considerations of free speech and compliance with the code of conduct. Now, 

have you read the recent OLG guideline on free speech?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Have you heard any - much about it or -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I'm aware of it.  

 

MS McDONALD: Has it been provided to you by council yet?  10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It came to my attention, having watched some of the 

proceedings of this inquiry. I looked for it in my inbox; I couldn't find it. It doesn't 

mean it hasn't been sent to me, but I couldn't find it because it piqued my interest 

when I realised this circular was available, and I wanted to have a read of it but I 15 

haven't read it, and I can't seem to find it in my inbox. That's, as I say, not to say I 

haven't got it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: There's been no briefing?  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Not to - not to my knowledge.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Certainly not one that you were at?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: The tension that I wanted to explore with you is that under the 

code of conduct there are the general conduct obligations under clause 3.1, which 

includes such things as: 

 30 

"You must not conduct yourself in a manner that..."  

 

For number - in (a): 

 

"Is likely to bring the council or other council officials into disrepute." 35 

 

And it's the tension that's in some evidence before the inquiry that I think we've 

observed - that where there is a matter where there's some kind of criticism of 

council, even though it may be a genuine criticism - and when I say genuine, held on 

grounds - objective grounds, et cetera - it appears at times that - to thwart debate or 40 

stop debate or discussion about it, it is raised that that's in breach of the code of 

conduct.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Have you observed that tension?  
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes. I can't recall verbatim, but there have been instances 

where, yes, legitimate genuine criticism has been seen as disparaging towards staff or 

somehow offensive to towards staff. But as I said, if there is genuine and legitimate 

criticism of council staff, I think it's councillors' - democratically elected councillors' 

obligation to point that out respectfully.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: When you say criticism of council staff -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Would you like an example?  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Or something that would fall within that rather than a specific, 

but what do you - what encompasses criticism of staff in that context?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: For argument's sake, if you place a question on notice and you 

receive an answer that you are dissatisfied with, I think it's entirely appropriate to be 15 

able to raise that with council staff who provided that answer and indicate to them, 

"I'm not satisfied with the answer and here's the reasons why, and I'd like these 

addressed." I would say that that's genuine and legitimate criticism.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So that doesn't encompass personal criticism of the staff 20 

member?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No. 

 

MS McDONALD: The terminology used in the code of conduct is:  25 

 

"...likely to bring the council or other council officials into disrepute."  

 

Other than that wording, there is no guidance within the code of conduct as to what 

that means, what it would cover. For example, where - the example that you've just 30 

given, where there is a legitimate genuine criticism, that would not be a comment 

which is bringing the council or councillors or staff into disrepute - do you think 

there's - would be any assistance in the code of conduct in trying to define the term 

or -  

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - expand on what is meant by that.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  40 

 

COMMISSIONER: What do you understand that - are you familiar with that 

passage of the code of conduct? And I can have it brought up if you'd like to see it.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: If it could be brought up, just so I can refer to it?  45 

 

COMMISSIONER: Of course. Of course. 
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MS McDONALD: I'll bring up - the version I'm using is 30 August 2022.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I don't think these provisions have changed, but -  

 5 

MS McDONALD: INQ.001.001.1134, please. And it's on page 6.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Did you receive training on the code of conduct as part of your 

induction process?  

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: We did, but it was towards the end of a very lengthy day, and it 

was really skimming through the provisions of the Code of Meeting Practice - sorry, 

the code of conduct. The Code of Meeting Practice was also -  

 

COMMISSIONER: We might come back to that one.  15 

 

MR MONAGHAN: But the code of conduct - it wasn't in any great detail. That 

being said, a lot of the provisions of both of those codes are relatively 

straightforward.  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: I don't mean this as a criticism, but with your 

background - your professional background, you found them to be relatively 

straightforward.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. Well, I would think that - objectively, particularly the 25 

Code of Meeting Practice, it's - it's rather straightforward.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So from - did you think that that induction was sufficient for 

you, as a new councillor, to grapple with the concepts that were now to be applied to 

you through the code of conduct?  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I thought it was sufficient. That being said, I had read the - the 

Code of Meeting Practice I'm much more familiar with than the code of conduct, but 

using that as an example, I had read that prior to the induction day and prior to the 

first council meeting. I think it's become apparent that further training, particularly 35 

for that document, is required, but I found it sufficient. Like I said, even the code of 

conduct, it's - it's straightforward. It is quite straightforward.  

 

COMMISSIONER: There might be some concepts we'll just explore. What page is 

the general conduct?  40 

 

MS McDONALD: It's page 6.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 45 

COMMISSIONER: 3.1. Just refresh yourself with 3.1, Councillor, and let me know 

when you've done that.  
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes, I've read that.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So focusing on 3.1(a), what sort of conduct would you 

understand is falling within 3.1(a), as it's currently drafted?  5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Well, 3.1(b), 3.1(c), 3.1(d), (e), (f) and (g), I would say that 

they all - all of that behaviour is likely to bring council or council officials into 

disrepute.  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: So you would read 3.1(a) as being informed by the more 

specific examples in (b) to (g)?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Is there anything in addition to (b) to (g) that might fall within 

3.1(a)? This is not a test. I'm genuinely interested in your views of the document as 

drafted.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Nothing immediately springs to mind as being needed to 20 

further inform disrepute. As I said, (b) through to (g) is rather straightforward. I 

mean, you may not be aware of all of your statutory requirements, but you can ask 

for advice. Intentional breaches, of course, are a separate matter. But as I said earlier, 

the rest of it - (c), (d), (e), (f), (g) are straightforward.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: I think some of the tension that perhaps counsel assisting was 

referring to is in some of the definitions of the word "disrepute" that one can find in 

dictionaries and the like - draw on concepts of things that might undermine 

confidence in - in this case the organisation - and the tension that might arise 

between genuine criticism, be it of a financial position or of a decision made by a 30 

governing body or how something was executed, and those concepts that might fall 

within disrepute. Do you see how a tension like that might arise?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. I can see the tension between - for argument's sake, 

criticising council for its financial position could bring council into disrepute, in that 35 

it may lead people to thinking less of council because of that criticism.  

 

COMMISSIONER: But from your earlier answers, I would understand your 

evidence as being that you would consider that type of criticism to be entirely 

legitimate, as an elected representative?  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, as long as it's - as long as it's not constituting conduct in 

those other subsections of that - subclauses of that clause.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And do you think that code of conduct or - and the procedures 45 

might benefit from some interpretive guidance around that?  

 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 19.11.2025 P-3460  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Particularly disrepute, yes, and - yes, the tension between 

exercising your right of free speech, particularly as an elected official, and that 

particular provision of the code.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. 5 

 

MS McDONALD: The example that the Commissioner gave you of a legitimate and 

genuine concern about the financial position of the council, and if you articulate that 

it can also be seen as bringing the council into disrepute - can I give you another 

example of - where council engage in conduct - for example, maybe selling some 10 

property, subsequently there is a probity review of that conduct which is critical of 

the way that the sale was started, valued and proceeded with.  

 

Now, if the criticism of the council in how it conducted that sale of an asset - for that 

to be voiced and then for the - for example, a councillor voicing that criticism to be 15 

met with an assertion of, "You're bringing the council into disrepute," it's a code of 

conduct complaint or a breach of the code of conduct, is that another demonstration 

of that, I suppose, tension and whether the allegation of bringing the council into 

disrepute may be being misused or exploited, in a way?  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You've - during this year we've heard evidence that at a number 

of council meetings statistics have been provided about the code of conduct 

complaints received.  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And it's at a very - it's just, you know, 100 have been received or 

150 have been received. Also evidence of the costs that have been involved in 30 

referring the complaints either on a preliminary assessment or in an investigative 

stage to outside organisations. I know that you're not provided with the details of the 

code of conduct complaints, but just the fact of the increase in the numbers, do you 

have any comment or concern about how that has arisen? Or is it difficult in the 

absence of actually knowing the detail?  35 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It's difficult in the absence of knowing the details.  

 

MS McDONALD: There has been some evidence during the inquiry of a concern 

that code of conduct complaints may be being weaponised.  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Again, in the absence of the detail of these code of conduct 

complaints, I couldn't make an assessment.  

 

MS McDONALD: You can't comment?  45 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  
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MS McDONALD: All right. And I'm - again, this might be difficult in the absence 

of knowing the details - the costs that have been incurred in involving the outside 

investigative agencies to either undertake preliminary assessments or - or the - if the 

preliminary assessment says move to an investigation, the actual investigation - have 5 

you got - well, I suppose you would have concerns about the money, because it's a 

drain on the finances of the council.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, of course.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: Have you got any other comment or have you turned your mind 

to any reform that could try and cut back on those expenses? And in particular, in the 

inquiry we have heard some evidence about whether re-establishing an internal 

ombudsman could be of benefit.  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Not being as familiar with this document as I am with the Code 

of Meeting Practice, I wouldn't be able to indicate any specific reforms that may be 

able to halt that process - or halt the increase in - significant increase in numbers in 

the code of conduct complaints at Liverpool. As to the internal ombudsman, I'm not 

sure. I haven't - I've only got experience of council in its current form, let alone with 20 

internal ombudsman. So I - but I haven't really turned my mind to it.  

 

MS McDONALD: I then wanted to turn to council meetings, including, obviously 

the Code of Meeting Practice. You gave - you've given some evidence that you had 

that one-day induction as new - or as councillors to a new council?  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: We've heard some evidence, and indeed we've seen the agenda 

for the day, and my recollection is at the end of the day code of conduct and Code of 30 

Meeting Practice were - might have been after lunch.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And for - when I say a relatively short period of time, it might 35 

have been about two hours or something like that?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. Yes, I recall that.  

 

MS McDONALD: Had you read the Code of Meeting Practice before attending that 40 

induction?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And as a solicitor, you probably have an advantage in reading 45 

and understanding the document?  
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MR MONAGHAN: Some portions of the document, maybe, but largely maintain 

that that document is quite straightforward.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. May I start with some general questions about council 

meetings. The inquiry has heard some evidence about the length of council meetings 5 

at Liverpool City Council - and again I'm putting generally - that they seem to go on 

for hours right up to - I think it's the 11 o'clock cut­off.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. That's correct.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: And as part of that criticism - that it appears at times items that 

may be assessed as not that important or significant are being dealt with earlier on, 

taking a lot of time, and then matters which might be more complex or serious or 

important in the scheme of things are being dealt with right at the end, in a rather 

hurried fashion, or might have to be put over to the next council meeting. That rather 15 

longwinded general criticism, does that accord with your views or experiences of the 

council meetings?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: The first several meetings particularly. One of the criticisms I 

raised early on was that the agenda that we received for a meeting should indicate - if 20 

specific items have a legislative deadline, that that item needs to be resolved by a 

particular deadline, that should be indicated on the agenda. There was at least one 

meeting in October or November of last year that - the whole meeting was two 

five-hour sessions, and one of those - in the last two minutes, I think we passed 

several items that we were told could not be deferred because they had a time limit, 25 

effectively, they needed to be assessed by. But that was never indicated on the 

agenda.  

 

So, yes, a general criticism is one that I held at the time and it's - I think it's improved 

sightly, because that criticism was taken on board. There are now agendas where - if 30 

items are needing to be dealt with at that meeting, they're indicated in a particular 

colour. I think it's red or green.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: Red or yellow, sorry.  

 

MS McDONALD: Because the agenda - is that actually - the proposed agenda's part 

of the Code of Meeting Practice?  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: They're - yes, the Code of Meeting Practice sets out the -  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, the order.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: The order, yes.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Sorry. But that can obviously be varied?  
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And so after you raise this issue, now the identification of items 

that have to be dealt with in a particular colour, does that allow, at the beginning of 5 

the council meeting or at some point, a motion to amend the order so that those 

matters are dealt with earlier, to ensure that they're completed?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: That seems to deal with the aspect of items that could be 

complex or important being dealt with in the last couple of minutes - or 15 minutes 

of a council meeting. What about the length of them? Are they still going until the 

cut­off of 11 pm?  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Do you know what the cause of that is? Sorry, I withdraw that. 

Do you have an opinion as to what causes that?  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. The Code of Meeting Practice provides, if applied strictly, 

an efficient way of dealing with council business. Councillors are entitled to speak 

once on a motion for a period of five minutes, with a potential extension to be - that 

can be voted on - be granted for a particular speaker. The code also provides that if 

there are two speakers for and two against, anyone is entitled to have the motion 25 

put - finish that item, the mover is entitled to their right of reply, and then a vote can 

be taken.  

 

Ideally, if a particular - and that - there's also a provision that if there's no one who is 

going to speak against a motion, it can be put straightaway. Ideally, at the beginning 30 

of each motion the chairperson - and this would be applicable to all councils - would 

ask if there were any speakers - anyone who wished to speak for the motion - and 

write their names on a list. Against, write their names on a list. And alternate 

between them - one for, one against, five minutes. And then if someone wishes to put 

it, the motion's put and we can move on. At the moment we see very longwinded, 35 

free-wheeling, unstructured debate.  

 

MS McDONALD: There have been some observations of particular items within 

meetings where it commences with the identification of the mover and the seconder. 

Then there's a question about whether the mover wants to speak about - in favour of 40 

the motion. And then it moves into - probably to pick up your words - the 

longwinded, free-ranging debate, where people are speaking, questions are being 

asked. And the impression that I would suggest to you is that, on the one hand, it 

does appear that people are contributing, but then it kind of gets out of hand, and 

then suddenly, after an amount of time is spent, the chairperson then has to try and 45 

rein people back in to try to make a decision, which sometimes is difficult because 
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people have experienced the free-ranging debate. Is that - does that accord with some 

of your experience of -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. That's the tension between either allowing, you know, 

people to debate completely, fully, freely for as long as the chair wishes or, in the 5 

interests of time and efficiency, applying the Code of Meeting Practice so we can 

deal with business more efficiently. It's a management chair - management of the 

meeting style.  

 

MS McDONALD: The procedure that you broadly set out there, that you've now got 10 

a notice of motion, before moving into the debate you - that the chairperson asks, 

"Who wants to speak in favour? Who wants to speak against?" And then is the 

suggestion that the restraints within the Code of Meeting Practice - for example, 

restricting people to five minutes unless there's an extension would be applied?  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And so that alternative that you've just suggested - with your 

knowledge of the Code of Meeting Practice, does that meet the restraints or the 

restraints imposed by the Code of Meeting Practice?  20 

 

MR MONAGHAN: It would strictly meet the requirements of the Code of Meeting 

Practice, and in my opinion would mean that the debate is shorter and more efficient.  

 

MS McDONALD: But with an element of participation by -  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That may be decreased, compared to the free-wheeling 

approach.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 30 

 

COMMISSIONER: I've seen other councils use a process of moving matters on the 

agenda that are uncontroversial on block, where several items might be - being able 

to be moved and dealt with at once, which then - on one view, has the benefit of 

freeing up more time for debate on more substantive items. Are you familiar with 35 

that type of approach?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: The code does allow for that. We have - Liverpool Council has 

done that in the past in respect of committee reports. The problem with moving 

things in a block like that - if one person says they would like to speak to something, 40 

the process - you have to take that item out.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: And you can never really tell who's going to want to contribute 45 

to what item.  
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COMMISSIONER: That's true. The way I - I'm not saying this is an ideal way to do 

it, it's just what I've observed in other councils - is that at the start of the meeting the 

chair might say, "Are there any items people want to pull out," for want of a better 

term. "Yes, I want to speak on item 13, 15," whatever. All right. Well, the rest, can 

they be dealt with on block? I take it that's not a process outside of committee reports 5 

that's been utilised?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. I wanted to move to a couple of recent council meetings, 10 

where some specific issues of meeting practice have arisen. The first one I wanted to 

raise with you - we've already heard some evidence about it. It first arose at the 

ordinary council meeting of 24 September. If you can just excuse me. I might just 

bring up the agenda to begin with. It's INQ.072.001.0004. Yes, please. Sorry. And if 

we can move through to page 328. Actually, if you'd go to 327.  15 

 

That's the commencement of the notice of motion, and we've heard some evidence 

about this when Councillor Ristevski was giving evidence because he was the mover 

of this motion. And if I can just take you to the notice of motion which appears on 

page 328, it's dealing with the council's Facebook page. And paragraph 1 refers to 20 

acknowledging the findings of the public inquiry hearings, et cetera, but then 2 and 3 

then seek the CEO to prepare a policy which is looking at the council Facebook page 

and attempting to make sure that there's, kind of, fair and non-partisan representation 

on that Facebook page.  

 25 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, I can take you to more details, but you recall this being -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: - moved on 24 September? And what occurred was that a 

number of councillors declared a non-pecuniary significant interest in the item.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: And I can bring up the minutes if you need to see them, but my 

account was seven councillors -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Seven.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: - expressed such a conflict of interest, and that the way that they 

proposed to manage the conflict was to leave the chamber.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: The consequence of them leaving the chamber?  
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MR MONAGHAN: The meeting was inquorate.  

 

MS McDONALD: And as there was no quorum, under the Code of Meeting 

Practice that had particular repercussions?  5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Which were -  

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: I think the clause is 15.16. In the absence of the 

chairperson - chairperson was absent - the remaining councillors vote to adjourn the 

meeting to a time, date and place to be fixed by the majority of the remaining 

councillors.  

 15 

MR MONAGHAN: You were one of the remaining councillors?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I was.  

 

MS McDONALD: With the other remaining councillors, did you do what was set 20 

out in clause 15.6?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And hence the meeting was adjourned.  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And I think it was stood over until - was it -  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: The following day -  

 

MS McDONALD: The 25th.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: - 25 September, at 6 o'clock.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: If we can bring up a new document, INQ.072.001.0010. It can be 

live streamed. So that's the minutes of adjourned meeting held on the 25th?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: If we go through to page 54, we've got notice of motion number 

2, and we've got, again, what we saw in the previous agenda, the background. Down 

the bottom of the page, the notice of motion. But if we go across the page, page 55, 

the council decision - we can see there that the first paragraph, which - of the notice 45 

of motion, which referred to acknowledging - acknowledge the findings of the public 

inquiry hearings - that's disappeared. That's been removed?  
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes, and the rest is the exact same.  

 

MS McDONALD: And indeed, if we look down - it's got:  

 5 

"The motion was declared carried." 

 

And if we go down the bottom of the page, we've got everybody who voted in favour 

of it. And if we go across the page, we've got two councillors, Macnaught and Adjei, 

who voted against it?  10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. Sorry, I can see that. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then also Councillor Dr Green and Councillor Harte were 

not in the chamber. And I think, as it says - both of them still maintained their 15 

conflict of interest?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, I can take you to the actual video, but I would like to avoid 20 

that.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Okay.  

 

MS McDONALD: The debate upon this - as soon as it's moved, Councillor 25 

Ristevski says something along the lines of, "Quite happy to remove paragraph 1." 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: "And we'll move to this."  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And as we can see, that was passed by a majority. It was carried?  

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: During the meeting, you raise an issue along the lines of why - is 

this correct - "Why wasn't this done yesterday?"  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: Amongst other concerns, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. What - if I can first ask you, what were your concerns?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Why wasn't that paragraph simply removed on the first day. 45 

Why wasn't the item moved to the end of the agenda on the first day, and in a recess 

there could have been a discussion about the, you know, offending clause being 
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removed. And why is it that simply removing the words "public inquiry" removed 

the conflict of interest. The substance is the same.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can I just ask you about the first two matters - and again, this is 

just watching the video. It's - it appears that Councillor Ristevski was quite upfront 5 

and immediately said, when this item was called, "I want to amend the motion. I'll 

remove that first paragraph."  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: And as you said, that seems to have been identified as the 

offending paragraph?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: And can you recall at the meeting the day before - was there any 

discussion about, "Well, look, we've got an issue with the first paragraph and this is 

why we're raising a conflict of interest, and we're going to walk," or -  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No. Seven councillors raised their conflict of interest and 20 

walked out.  

 

MS McDONALD: Leaving the council without a quorum?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Correct.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And as you've - you've given evidence the next day, from their 

perspective - I know you've got that third concern, but from at least some of those 

councillors who declared a conflict of interest it would appear that it was easily 

resolved?  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Very.  

 

MS McDONALD: And as you said, could have been a matter that could have been 

discussed during a recess or - if this item had been put at the end of the day - and I 35 

think, as you raised during the meeting, saved cost of bringing everybody back for 

another meeting?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: Not only the cost to the council, but also the cost to various 

councillors and staff members' time?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes, of course.  

 45 

COMMISSIONER: Just going back to the 24th, the first time this motion came up - 
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MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just step me through how, in your view, would have been the 

preferred way to deal with it on the 24th. An item comes up as per the book. What do 

you - what would you suggest would have been the way to handle that?  5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: This would -  

 

COMMISSIONER: I know it's all hindsight and it - 

 10 

MR MONAGHAN: Look, a number of things could have occurred. The chair could 

have said, "I have concerns in respect of a conflict of interest with this matter. Others 

may also." That necessarily presupposes, however, that the chair knew of other 

people's concerns about conflicts of interest, but the conflict could have been raised. 

And if it was a simple - if it was as simple as removing that first paragraph, it could 15 

have been raised either - "How about we move a motion to put this item at the end 

and we can discuss it in a recess," if people who had a conflict didn't wish to debate 

the item at all. Or alternatively, proposed in the first instance, "Look, I don't - I'm not 

opposed to the substance of the motion," because clearly the chair wasn't opposed to 

the substance of the motion - he voted in favour. "But if we remove the first 20 

paragraph, I've no longer got a conflict. I can't speak for others, but that may resolve 

it."  

 

COMMISSIONER: In addition to the providing time for a discussion in a recess, is 

there - would there have been any other benefits, in your view, in moving it to the 25 

end of the meeting?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Sorry?  

 

COMMISSIONER: So one of the courses that you've identified is, well, this could 30 

have been deferred until the end of the agenda and returned to, and that might have 

given the councillors some opportunity to have a chat during a recess to navigate a 

way through.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  35 

 

COMMISSIONER: Is there any other benefit to dealing with a matter - this matter 

at the end of the meeting? Well, for example, if a way couldn't be navigated through 

and then the council was left without a quorum, that would happen at the end rather 

than halfway through the business or however -  40 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - far through the business paper this was.  

 45 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. That -  
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COMMISSIONER: Is that an additional benefit of dealing with (crosstalk)? 

 

MR MONAGHAN: That is an additional benefit. Yes. The only problem is that 

then that item, singularly, is adjourned to another day. (Crosstalk). And the same 

discussion still has to occur in the intervening period.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Is there scope for councillors to discuss between themselves 

the content of a proposed motion after the agenda comes out but before the meeting?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Of course.  10 

 

COMMISSIONER: Was this motion the subject of any discussion between 

councillors, to your knowledge?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: To my knowledge, no.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: Following on from that question, often in the agenda you already 

see identified conflicts of interest?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: No, conflicts of interest are raised at the meeting. So they 20 

wouldn't be included in the agenda.  

 

MS McDONALD: Could we just bring up, again - sorry, this is something I was a 

little bit confused about - the council agenda for 24 September, INQ.072.001.0004.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: Leaving aside - while that's coming up, Councillor - leaving 

aside this particular example, does that discussion between councillors about the 

content of the motion and how things might be improved in the wording before the 

meeting - does that happen between you and your colleagues from time to time?  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: I discuss some - I can only speak for myself.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Of course.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I discuss the agenda with some of my colleagues, not all.  35 

 

COMMISSIONER: Is it your practice that if you see a motion and you have 

concern about a wording - is that something that you would raise with your 

colleagues?  

 40 

MR MONAGHAN: Using Councillor Ristevski's notice of motion as an example, 

because they're usually the most frequent - he's the most prolific mover of notices of 

motion - ordinarily I'd speak to him at the meeting, maybe five or 10 minutes 

beforehand, and indicate to him some of the ones that I personally am not supporting, 

other ones that I might be or other ones that could do with an amendment, and then 45 

that may result in my support.  
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MS McDONALD: The last matter I raise with you we'll completely forget because I 

was missing some pages in my - extracted from an agenda. So we'll move on from 

there.  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Okay.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: You raised the third issue about that motion, which was the 

removal of paragraph 1, which expressly referred to this public inquiry then meant 

that there was no - putting to one side Councillors Green and Harte, from the other 

councillors there was - the conflict of interest issue, in a sense, disappeared?  10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Is in a matter that you've raised subsequently that - the removal 

of an express reference to the public inquiry - arguably, if there was a conflict of 15 

interest, shouldn't removal the conflict of interest?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: I don't see how it could possibly remove the conflict. The 

substance of the motion - that motion in particular - was exactly the same as it was 

when there was a conflict. It seemed to be that the conflict was about a direct 20 

reference to the public inquiry, but the matter is still being considered at the public 

inquiry. The reasons that were given by a number of people for their conflict was that 

they either had given evidence or were going to give evidence at the inquiry, and that 

this nom dealt with a matter that was being dealt with at the public inquiry.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: That interaction between matters being considered by the public 

inquiry and the matters that council has been considering all year and will continue 

to consider until a final report is handed down, do you see that there's a conflict 

between - in a sense, the public inquiry considering its matters and council 

considering - it could be the same matter but in the context of a council meeting?  30 

 

MR MONAGHAN: No. We have obligations under the Local Government Act to 

continue to perform our function. Given the breadth of the terms of reference and the 

key issues list that has been put out about this inquiry, I would estimate 

conservatively that 90 per cent of council's business would be related to matters of 35 

public inquiry. We simply can't delineate between the two.  

 

MS McDONALD: Could you just excuse me. Commissioner, I've just had a word 

with Mr Parish.  

 40 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: There have been two extraordinary meetings in September and 

October which have raised particular notices of motion. I think the suggestion is that 

in the circumstances of the matter that it raised and the way that it's been dealt with 45 

at the meeting, it's - meetings, it may be appropriate to move into a closed session.  
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COMMISSIONER: Without giving it away, can you just tell me in a general sense 

what's the subject matter?  

 

MS McDONALD: Staff matter. 

 5 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Before I do that, Councillor, you've - you've told me 

of some improvements that might be able to be made, the two for, two 

against - adherence to that part of Code of Meeting Practice. Is there anything else, to 

your observation, that might be done to enhance the effectiveness, efficiency of 

meetings whilst maintaining the forum for debate and discussion?  10 

 

MR MONAGHAN: Possibly the course of action that - raised earlier of having - at 

the beginning of the meeting asking councillors if there are particular items that 

require questions or debate, and putting them, essentially, to one side and dealing 

with the noncontentious items in a block, and then that would allow for more time 15 

for more - to maintain that more extensive debate on matters that councillors wish to 

interrogate further.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Anything else that comes to mind?  

 20 

MR MONAGHAN: Stricter adherence to the Code of Meeting Practice.  

 

COMMISSIONER: In an earlier answer you - tell me if I misunderstood you in any 

way, but I thought you said that further training in the Code of Meeting Practice 

might be beneficial?  25 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think that would be beneficial as well. Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Why do you have that view?  

 30 

MR MONAGHAN: I'm not sure if I can - this doesn't disclose what matters were 

dealt with at the 14 October council meeting. It doesn't deal with -  

 

MS McDONALD: Could I just - you won't delve into the specifics of the motion -  

 35 

MR MONAGHAN: The motion -  

 

MS McDONALD: - as before?  

 

MR MONAGHAN: Yes. But there was one instance at that meeting - maybe some 40 

additional training about foreshadowed motions might be beneficial. I attempted to 

move a foreshadowed motion, in accordance with the code, and was simply shut 

down.  

 

COMMISSIONER: The type of training - and you might have seen or read, if 45 

you've been following along - I've had this exchange with some of your colleagues 

about the type of training in the Code of Meeting Practice that might be beneficial, 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 19.11.2025 P-3473  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

and it's been suggested to me that some practical hands-on training about meeting 

skills, moving motions, moving amendments, entering into debate and bringing it 

back and that sort of thing, rather than a "here's what the Code of Meeting Practice 

says", but some more practical training would be of benefit. What's your view on 

that?  5 

 

MR MONAGHAN: I think both would be beneficial.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. So we move to private?  

 10 

MS McDONALD: Yes, please. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Pursuant to 12B of the Royal Commissions Act, I direct that 

the next passage of hearing take place in private, that the transcript of this passage of 

the hearing not be published otherwise than in accordance with my usual direction as 15 

now amended. Those who are in the room can remain.  

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 3.30 PM 


